

The Anaesthetic Workforce: **UK State of the Nation Report** November 2024



Contents

Executive summary 3

- 1. Introduction 4
- 2. Methodology and data sources 5

3. What anaesthetists do 5

- 3.1 Role during surgery 6
- 3.2 Role in training and supervision 6
- 3.3 Research and governance 6

4. Grades of anaesthetist 7

5. Current numbers and gaps 8

- 5.1 Permanent consultants and SAS doctors 8
- 5.2 Locum anaesthetists 9
 - 5.2.1 The cost of locums 9
- 5.3 Workforce gaps 10
- 5.4 International comparisons 12

6. Expansion of the anaesthetic workforce 13

- 6.1 Anaesthetists in training 13
 - 6.1.1 The training pathway 13
 - 6.1.2 Types of trainees 13
 - 6.1.3 What anaesthetists learn 14
 - 6.1.4 CCT recommendations 15
 - 6.1.5 Recent Government actions to increase training numbers 15
 - 6.1.6 The need for further increases 15
- 6.2 Anaesthetists from abroad 16
 - 6.2.1 Numbers of anaesthetists from abroad 16
 - 6.2.2 Overseas recruitment 17
 - 6.2.3 Pathways to practice 18
 - 6.2.4 Impact of Brexit 19

7. Workforce exits, capacity restraints and retention challenges 20

- 7.1 Retirements 20
- 7.2 Age profiles 20
- 7.3 The retention challenge in anaesthesia 21
- 7.4 Pension taxation 22
- 7.5 Less than full-time working 22

8. SAS doctors 23

- 8.1 Roles 23
- 8.2 Contracts 23
- 8.3 Numbers 23
- 8.4 Concerns 24
- 8.5 Measures to help and promote SAS doctors 24
 - 8.5.1 Working hours 24
 - 8.5.2 Being valued in departments 24
 - 8.5.3 Supporting professional activities 24
 - 8.5.4 Professional development 24
 - 8.5.5 SAS advocates 25

- 8.6 Recommendations 25
- 9. Anaesthesia associates 25
 - 9.1 NHS expansion plans 25
 - 9.2 Numbers of AAs 25

10. Expected increase in demand for anaesthetic services by 2040 27

- 10.1 Increases in demand 27
 - 10.1.1 Population growth and ageing 27
 - 10.1.2 Expansion of surgical interventions 27
 - 10.1.3 Expansion of the anaesthetist's role 28
 - 10.1.4 Bringing it all together 28
- 10.2 Increases in supply 28
- 10.3 Growing gap between supply and demand 28
- 10.4 Breakdown by nation 29
- 10.5 Projections becoming reality 29
- 10.6 Impact on patient care and the NHS 29
- 10.7 Severe constraints on NHS capacity 29

11. Wellbeing, mental health and burnout 30

- 11.1 Workload 30
- 11.2 Burnout 30
- 11.3 Drivers **31**
- 11.4 Overall 31
- 12. Impact of waiting lists on patients 31
- 13. Transformation of the surgical pathway 32

14. Recommendations 32

- 14.1 Increasing anaesthetic training places 32
- 14.2 Sensible pension taxation rules 33
- 14.3 Promoting, valuing, and utilising SAS roles 33
- 14.4 Wellbeing, burnout, and mental health 33
- 14.5 Career progression and job flexibility 33
- 14.6 Transformation of the surgical pathway 33

Appendix A: Waiting time figures 34

Appendix B: Methodology 35

References 36

ISBN: 978-1-900936-37-8

© 2024 Royal College of Anaesthetists

All Rights Reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any other means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior permission, in writing, of the Royal College of Anaesthetists.

Whilst the Royal College of Anaesthetists has endeavoured to ensure that this document is as accurate as possible at the time it was published, it can take no responsibility for matters arising from circumstances which may have changed, or information which may become available subsequently.

Royal College of Anaesthetists, Churchill House, 35 Red Lion Square, London WC1R 4SG 020 7092 1500 | <u>advocacy@rcoa.ac.uk</u> | <u>rcoa.ac.uk</u>

Design and layout by the Royal College of Anaesthetists.

Executive summary

- Anaesthetists are vital to addressing the NHS waiting list crisis, because most operations cannot take place without an anaesthetist.
- Although numbers of consultant and SAS (specialists, associate specialists and specialty doctors) anaesthetists in the UK rose from 10,149 in 2020 to 10,628 in 2022, demand has increased further. Numbers are 15% lower than what is needed, with a shortfall of around 1,900 anaesthetists across the UK.
- We estimate that this shortfall is preventing roughly 1.4 million operations and procedures from taking place per year, exacerbating the NHS's waiting list crisis.
- The new Westminster Government has also pledged to clear waits over 18 weeks and reduce waiting lists by 'millions' by the end of this parliament. These are worthy goals but will need anaesthetists to deliver them.
- The supply of anaesthetists is constrained by inadequate numbers of training places and poor retention.
- Demand for healthcare services, including surgery, is set to increase due to factors such as the growing and ageing UK population.
- At the current insufficient growth rate, the NHS could have a shortfall of 11,000 anaesthetists by 2040 to meet this additional demand. This deficit, unless addressed, could prevent 8.25 million operations and procedures from taking place each year, so urgent action must be taken now.
- Workforce shortages impact the existing workforce by putting additional workload on doctors, fuelling burnout and harming retention. Of anaesthetists who retired or left the profession early, 25% did so because of issues to do with mental wellbeing, burnout, or stress.
- Necessary solutions involve the following: the development of national plans for specialty training; boosting the number of funded anaesthetic training places; improving development opportunities and recognition of SAS-grade doctors; addressing the causes of poor retention; and ensuring that previous detrimental policies, such as a punitive pension taxation regime, do not return.

1. Introduction

Following the recent general election, the UK faces a new political landscape. However, the NHS remains in a state of crisis. Waiting lists are at near-record level: 7.6 million people are waiting for treatment in England,¹ while Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland report 864,500,² 617,200,³ and 404,200,⁴ respectively[†]. It is, therefore, imperative that the Westminster Government and devolved administrations improve the capacity and the efficiency of health services.

After the publication of the last edition of this report in February 2022, we have collected new data showing that the UK-wide shortfall of anaesthetists has grown from around 1,400 to 1,900 – 15% lower than what is needed. This represents a fundamental bottleneck in our health system. Simply put, unless the number of anaesthetists in the NHS is increased, the required reduction in the elective backlog is unlikely to occur.

The anaesthetic workforce shortage not only limits NHS capacity, but also drives up costs. Increasingly, anaesthetic departments are having to spend large amounts of precious budget on expensive agency locums and bank staff or on overtime to cover operations that otherwise could not take place. However, even these expensive options can increase capacity only so far. There is only so much overtime that anaesthetists can safely do, and locum anaesthetists can fill only a fraction of the current gaps.

Since our last report in 2022, England,⁵ Wales,⁶ Scotland,⁷ and Northern Ireland⁸ have set out elective recovery plans. Also, following our representations in 2022, Health Education England (now part of NHS England) granted 70 extra higher anaesthetic training places per year for three years.⁹ Although this was very welcome, these places need to be made permanent. In Wales, six new higher anaesthetic training places were granted in 2023 and, in Scotland, six new places were granted in 2024. Although useful starts, many more are needed to address the workforce shortfall.

In addition to the above, in June 2023, NHS England published its 'Long Term Workforce Plan'.¹⁰ This included pledges to double medical school places from 7,500 in 2023 to 15,000 in 2031/32 and 'growth in foundation placement capacity, as those taking up these new places begin to graduate, and a commensurate increase in specialty training places that meets the demands of the NHS in the future'.

Although such pledges of growth in specialist training at some point in the future are welcome, ultimately, they are too vague and too slow. The shortage of anaesthetic training posts is a huge problem here and now. The need is immediate and there are already vast numbers of doctors finishing foundation training who want to progress to specialty training but can't do so due to lack of funded places to progress to. Furthermore, there are still doctors who have finished core anaesthetic training, but do not have higher anaesthetic training places to go to. These dual bottlenecks waste talent and constrain NHS capacity.

In September 2024, Lord Ara Darzi published the results of his 'Independent Investigation of the NHS in England'.¹¹ This set out the perilous state the NHS; the impact of years of under-investment; and the productivity challenges the system faces. These factors are well known to our members. The investigation also set out that NHS healthcare staffing levels in hospitals are high compared to other nations. This may be true in general, but is definitely not true in relation to anaesthesia, where staffing levels lag far behind other comparable nations.¹²

The new Westminster Government has also pledged to clear waits over 18 weeks¹³ and reduce waiting lists by 'millions' by the end of this parliament.¹⁴ These are worthy goals but will need anaesthetists to deliver them.

With the Westminster Government now developing a new 10-year NHS plan and an update to the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan, there is a need for urgent action. The shortfall of anaesthetists must be closed in every nation of the UK if our health services are to function properly, elective backlogs are to be addressed, and targets (such as 18 weeks for referral to treatment) are to be met.

In this report, we provide a comprehensive overview of the anaesthetic workforce, the training pipeline, retention issues, and reiterate very worrying projections of future demand. We also set out what actions are needed now to set UK nations in a positive direction.

[†] For details of how we calculated waiting lists, <u>see Appendix A</u>.

2. Methodology and data sources

Many figures in this report come from our 2022 workforce survey, which was sent to all clinical leads in anaesthesia working in the NHS in England, Scotland, and Wales or Health and Social Care in Northern Ireland. The response rate was high at 84%, but lower than the response rate to our last full census in 2020, which received a 97% response rate. We accounted for missing data using the scaling method set out in full in <u>Appendix B</u>, to give regional, national, and UK-wide estimates of anaesthetic workforce numbers.

Figures about training capacity come from an internal survey carried out in 2023, which was sent to College tutors and heads of school about their ability to take on extra anaesthetists in training (AiTs).

With regard to anaesthesia associates (AAs), some data comes from an additional 2023 survey of clinical leaders and a 2023 survey of Royal College of Anaesthetists' (RCoA's) members.

In some cases, we used data from other sources, for example, from the General Medical Council (GMC), on matters such as burnout and workforce age profiles.

3. What anaesthetists do

The role of the anaesthetist is vital to the functioning of the NHS. Most operations cannot take place without an anaesthetist. In the operating theatre, the anaesthetist administers the anaesthetic and, importantly, monitors and responds to changes in the patient's vital functions to ensure that they remain safe and stable during the operation.

However, the work of anaesthetists extends beyond operating theatres. Their skills and expertise are needed for patients of all ages in a large range of settings where resuscitation, anaesthesia and pain relief are needed, including pre-hospital care, emergency departments, maternity services, intensive care units, interventional radiology suites, acute and chronic pain services, gastroenterology, dentistry, and psychiatry.

They are also involved in preoperative assessment and preparation of patients ahead of surgery, training of many medical and other health staff, and research and governance.

ANAESTHETISTS



3.1 Role during surgery

The job of the anaesthetist is complex. Careful consideration needs to be given to both the type and the dose of anaesthetic, as well as how it is administered. This varies with the condition being treated, the patient's demographics, the medication that they currently take, and their comorbidities. Knowledge of how drugs interact and how negative interactions can be avoided or mitigated is a vital part of the role.

General anaesthetic drugs suppress not only the patient's consciousness, but also their physical reflexes such as blinking, swallowing, and breathing. The anaesthetist will support these functions as necessary, for example by supporting or taking over the patient's breathing. They provide additional pain relief and, if necessary, anti-sickness medication.

The anaesthetist monitors and treats the patient throughout the surgery, assessing pulse, blood pressure, oxygen levels, brain activity, and much more, to ensure that they remain safe and stable throughout.

3.2 Role in training and supervision

Many anaesthetists, including consultants and SAS doctors (specialists, associate specialists and specialty doctors), play a key role in the education and supervision of AiTs, medical students, and other healthcare staff, including nurses, midwives, and paramedics.¹⁵

3.3 Research and governance

Anaesthetists often play an important role in research and governance. Some may have specific leadership roles at a departmental or organisational level. More generally, anaesthetists are involved in ensuring that clinical guidelines are produced, updated, and maintained to support safe and high-quality patient care.¹⁶ Anaesthetists are also involved in educational quality improvement and academic projects.

4. Grades of anaesthetist

There are different grades of anaesthetist, employed under different contracts; these include: consultant anaesthetists; specialist, associate specialist, and specialty doctors (SAS); locally employed doctors (LEDs); and anaesthetists in training (AiTs).

Table 1 Different grades of anaesthetists

Anaesthetists in training (AiTs)

AiTs are already qualified and registered doctors.

By the time that they start specialist training in anaesthesia, they have already completed their medical degree (often five years) and general foundation training (two plus years).

Although there are a number of different anaesthetic training pathways, the most common is to do three years of core training (years CT1–3), after which they can become an SAS doctor. However, most advance through an additional four years of higher training (years ST4–7), which allows them to become consultants.

AiTs do not just learn, they also provide direct clinical care to patients during normal working hours and, after their initial three months of training, cover night-time or weekend shifts under the supervision of an on-call consultant or autonomously practising SAS doctor.

Without the clinical care provided to patients by AiTs, the NHS would struggle to function.

Specialist, associate specialist and specialty doctors (SAS)

At a minimum, SAS doctors have completed core anaesthetics training (or equivalent), but often have many more years of experience working as an anaesthetist.

Specialist grade doctors are senior SAS doctors with at least twelve years of medical experience since obtaining a primary medical qualification, including six years in anaesthetics.

They often focus on direct patient care, although many do have non-clinical, educational or managerial duties. Some, for example, specialist grade doctors, work at levels similar to a consultant.

Locally employed doctors (LEDs)

LEDs (also known as 'trust doctors') are usually employed on different contracts to SAS doctors, because they are set by a local trust rather than nationally. They typically work at the level of a junior anaesthetist in training (core training years CT1–3).

Consultant anaesthetists

A consultant anaesthetist is the most senior grade of anaesthetist. They usually have around 14 years of medical training, including seven years of specialist training in anaesthetics, before becoming a consultant.

In addition to clinical care, consultant anaesthetists often have managerial and education duties, and they are overall responsible for the care of patients.

5. Current numbers and gaps

5.1 Permanent consultants and SAS doctors

Between 2020 and 2022, the UK anaesthetic workforce saw moderate growth. The number of consultant anaesthetists rose from 8,495 to 8,777, an increase of 3.3%, and the number of SAS doctors rose from 1,654 to 1,851, an increase of 11.9%. The combined total of consultants and SAS doctors rose from 10,149 to 10,628, an increase of 4.7%.

Within the UK headline figures, there is national and regional variation. For example, Wales saw a decrease in consultant numbers, but an increase in SAS doctor numbers, whereas Scotland showed the reverse, with an increase in consultant numbers, but a decrease in SAS doctor numbers. The North-East of England was the only area of the UK to show an overall decline in anaesthetist numbers, which applied to both consultants and SAS doctors.

| | Consulta | nts | | SAS doct | fors | | Combine | d numbers | |
|--------------------------|----------|-------|----------|----------|-------|----------|---------|-----------|----------|
| | 2020 | 2022 | % change | 2020 | 2022 | % change | 2020 | 2022 | % change |
| East of England | 616 | 618 | 0.3 | 140 | 172 | 22.9 | 756 | 790 | 4.5 |
| West Midlands | 739 | 746 | 0.9 | 124 | 134 | 8.1 | 863 | 880 | 2.0 |
| South-East | 707 | 789 | 11.6 | 175 | 227 | 29.7 | 882 | 1,016 | 15.2 |
| North-East | 445 | 441 | -0.9 | 71 | 70 | -1.4 | 516 | 511 | -1.0 |
| South-West | 957 | 1,044 | 9.1 | 209 | 198 | -5.3 | 1,166 | 1,242 | 6.5 |
| Yorkshire and the Humber | 682 | 739 | 8.4 | 124 | 130 | 4.8 | 806 | 869 | 7.8 |
| London | 1,382 | 1,388 | 0.4 | 163 | 215 | 31.9 | 1,545 | 1,603 | 3.8 |
| East Midlands | 517 | 530 | 2.5 | 136 | 156 | 14.7 | 653 | 686 | 5.1 |
| North-West | 1,022 | 996 | -2.5 | 228 | 255 | 11.8 | 1,250 | 1,251 | 0.1 |
| Channel Islands | 6 | 6 | 0 | 19 | 19 | 0 | 25 | 25 | 0 |
| Northern Ireland | 275 | 311 | 13.1 | 40 | 48 | 20.0 | 315 | 359 | 14.0 |
| Scotland | 714 | 742 | 3.9 | 92 | 81 | -12.0 | 806 | 823 | 2.1 |
| Wales | 433 | 427 | -1.4 | 133 | 146 | 9.8 | 566 | 573 | 1.2 |
| England | 7,067 | 7,291 | 3.2 | 1,370 | 1,557 | 13.6 | 8,437 | 8,848 | 4.9 |
| UK | 8,495 | 8,777 | 3.32 | 1,654 | 1,851 | 11.9 | 10,149 | 10,628 | 4.7 |

Table 2 Anaesthetic workforce numbers by UK nation and English region, 2020 and 2022

5.2 Locum anaesthetists

Between 2020 and 2022, the number of locum consultants across the UK rose from 392 to 399, an increase of 1.8%. However, this headline figure hides dramatic variation at national and regional levels. In North-West England, for example, there was a 52% rise in the number of locum consultants, compared with a 46.7% decrease in the West Midlands.

| | Locum cons | ultants | % change |
|--------------------------|------------|---------|----------|
| | 2020 | 2022 | |
| East of England | 45 | 36 | -20.0 |
| West Midlands | 30 | 16 | -46.7 |
| South-East | 40 | 26 | -35.0 |
| North-East | 14 | 10 | -28.6 |
| South-West | 31 | 41 | 32.3 |
| Yorkshire and the Humber | 30 | 35 | 16.7 |
| London | 69 | 78 | 13.0 |
| East Midlands | 18 | 21 | 16.7 |
| North-West | 42 | 64 | 52.4 |
| Channel Islands | 2 | 2 | 0 |
| Northern Ireland | 10 | 6 | -40.0 |
| Scotland | 35 | 40 | 14.3 |
| Wales | 26 | 24 | -7.7 |
| England | 319 | 327 | 2.5 |
| UK | 392 | 399 | 1.8 |

Table 3 Number of locum consultants by UK nation and English region, 2020 and 2022

It must be noted, however, that the workforce data collected in 2022 looked at locum consultants exclusively; it did not cover locum SAS doctors or locum AiTs. In addition, locums can be employed on different contracts. Trust-employed locum consultants are employed on a fixed-term contract with salaries comparable to permanent members of staff. However, hospitals sometimes use external or agency consultant, SAS, or AiT locums who are paid a daily or sessional rate. The workforce data collected does not distinguish between these types of locums. It does, therefore, provide only a partial snapshot of the locum workforce.

Data from the last two full censuses showed that there were 310 locum consultants in 2015 and 392 in 2020, a 23% rise. In addition to locum consultants, the 2015 figures showed that there were 145 locum AiTs, increasing just one to 146 in 2020, and 100 SAS doctor locums working in NHS trusts/boards across the UK in 2020. It is unclear whether these numbers have increased or decreased since.

5.2.1 The cost of locums

Although locums are a useful resource to draw on to offer short-term cover, the chronic nature of the anaesthetic workforce shortfall means that they may now be needed for long periods of time.

The cost of locums varies considerably depending on their contract. Trust-employed locum consultant posts are cost neutral and can provide beneficial flexibility to anaesthetic departments.

However, external or agency locums are significantly more expensive. We have heard from NHS trusts/boards that considerable amounts are being paid for agency locums – sometimes as much as £1,760 per day. One trust of which we are aware spent £316,800 on a single agency locum to work for 180 days. This is much higher than for a permanent consultant, and many multiples of the cost of a higher anaesthetic trainee.

The Anaesthetic Workforce 2024: UK State of the Nation Report

Failure to address shortages of in-house anaesthetic staff can, therefore, be a huge financial drain on an overstretched NHS.

A single agency locum can cost the NHS £1,760 per day



CASE STUDIES from our network of Clinical

Directors (anaesthesia)

We have had one agency locum working four days per week for about a year. Assuming he took some annual leave, he has probably worked about 180 days over the last 12 months, costing £316,800.

99

We used locum consultant anaesthetists for 321 days from April 2020 until April 2021 and 96 days from April 2021 until August 2021 – estimated cost £733,920.

5.3 Workforce gaps

Although there have been increases in the number of consultant and SAS anaesthetists, these numbers are still way below what are needed. Unfortunately, there remain large and growing gaps in the workforce. As shown below, there is a consultant workforce shortfall of 1,418 (14% lower than what is needed), and an SAS shortfall of 442 (19%). This gives a combined workforce gap of 1,860 (15%). This is a dramatic rise from 2020, where the gap was 1,484[‡] meaning that in just two years the workforce gap has increased by two percentage points.



Given that most operations cannot take place without an anaesthetist, these gaps are putting an intolerable restriction on the ability of the NHS to reduce the elective backlog. Based on the caseload of the average anaesthetist, we estimate that current workforce shortages are preventing roughly 1.4 million operations and procedures from taking place per year.



The current shortfall of **1,900 anaesthetists** could result in **1.4 million operations and procedures** being delayed every year



This figure is slightly different to the one published in our 2022 State of the Nation report because we have now been able to account for missing data. See Appendix B for our methodology.

Looking at the numbers below, we see some variation in the demand for staff across regions and nations; however, the central message is that in every area of the UK (excluding the Channel Islands) there is a shortfall of both consultant and SAS anaesthetic doctors.

| | Consulta | nt gaps | SAS doctor | r gaps | Combined nu | mbers |
|--------------------------|----------|-----------------------------|------------|-----------------------------|-------------|--------------------------------|
| | 2022 | % lower than what is needed | 2022 | % lower than what is needed | 2022 | % lower than what is needed |
| East of England | 125 | 17 | 53 | 24 | 178 | 18 |
| West Midlands | 117 | 14 | 40 | 23 | 157 | 15 |
| South-East | 127 | 14 | 55 | 20 | 182 | 15 |
| North-East | 78 | 15 | 28 | 29 | 106 | 17 |
| South-West | 144 | 12 | 51 | 20 | 195 | 14 |
| Yorkshire and the Humber | 91 | 11 | 16 | 11 | 107 | 11 |
| London | 240 | 15 | 55 | 20 | 295 | 16 |
| East Midlands | 49 | 8 | 16 | 6 | 65 | 9 |
| North-West | 208 | 17 | 65 | 20 | 273 | 18 |
| Channel Islands | 0 | 0 | 1 | 5 | 1 | 4 |
| Northern Ireland | 42 | 12 | 16 | 25 | 58 | 14 |
| Scotland | 94 | 11 | 29 | 26 | 123 | 13 |
| Wales | 103 | 19 | 17 | 10 | 120 | 17 |
| England | 1,179 | 14 | 379 | 19 | 1,558 | 15 |
| UK | 1,418 | 14 | 442 | 19 | 1,860 | 15 |

Table 4 Anaesthetic workforce shortfalls by UK nation and English region, 2022

Efforts must be made to fill these gaps if anaesthesia is to be put on a sustainable footing and UK governments' stated aims around reducing their record-breaking elective backlogs are to be achieved. We discuss solutions in section 15 of this report.

5.4 International comparisons

In 2024, the results of 'The Global Anesthesia Workforce Survey' were published.¹² This showed that the UK had 14.23 anaesthetists per 100,000 people. This means it is lagging behind other large high-income European nations such as Germany (37.37), Italy (25.34), and France (17.02), and even many lower-income European nations such as Moldova (16.12). Overall, the UK's anaesthetists per 100,000 people levels are 26th in Europe, and 34th in the world.



6. Expansion of the anaesthetic workforce

6.1 Anaesthetists in training

Anaesthetic training places are key to securing the future anaesthetic workforce. AiTs also spend a significant proportion of their time providing clinical service, including covering most resident on-call rotas for emergency work, which makes them vital to NHS functioning. It often takes as little as six months from the time someone starts core anaesthetics training to the point where they are providing a level of independent clinical service with distant supervision.

It is, therefore, wrong to think of AiTs as just 'trainees' who will eventually provide clinical service in the future – they are a vital part of the NHS workforce here and now.

6.1.1 The training pathway

While, as mentioned, AiTs provide a level of independent clinical service, they are also learning a structured curriculum.

From start to finish, becoming a consultant anaesthetist can take 14 or more years. As of 2023, the current standard training path involves five years at medical school, two years of general foundation training, three years of core anaesthetic training, and four years of higher anaesthetic training. However, the training pathway may be longer than this because, for example, some choose to train less than full time, and bottlenecks between different stages of training do not always allow immediate progression to higher levels. The process can be shorter for SAS doctors, who may not undertake higher anaesthetic training. There are also other routes, which we describe in more detail below.



6.1.2 Types of trainees

Core/Higher (CT/ST): The standard RCoA training pathway comprising three years of core training (CT1–3) and four years of higher training (ST4–7).

Acute care common stem (ACCS) anaesthesia: After foundation training, this is a four-year scheme where trainees rotate around a number of acute specialties for the first two years – emergency medicine, intensive care medicine, internal medicine, and anaesthetics – before specialising. If they choose to specialise in anaesthetics, they will then complete two years of specialty training (equivalent to core training) in anaesthetics before applying for higher training (ST4) places.

ACCS non-anaesthesia: As above, but trainees exit into a specialty other than anaesthesia, either emergency medicine or internal medicine.

Locum appointment for training (LAT): These posts are fixed-term contracts which contribute to the time needed to complete specialist training. These last from three months to a year. They exist to help cover short/ medium-term vacancies within a training programme. LAT posts currently exist only in Scotland.¹⁷

Medical Training Initiative (MTI): This permits doctors who gained their primary medical qualification from a low- or middle-income country to train within the NHS for up to two years.

The RCoA Global Fellowship Scheme: This provides an opportunity for anaesthetists, intensivists and pain medicine doctors who work and train in high-income countries to undertake a period of subspecialty training within the NHS.

Locally employed doctors (LEDs; also known as 'trust doctors'): These are doctors employed on a contract set locally rather than nationally. They typically work at the level of a junior anaesthetist in training (core training years CT1–3). These positions are for doctors not currently in a training post who may be taking a break from training, have come from overseas, or want some time to consolidate their knowledge. They may keep a portfolio to demonstrate what they have learnt in the instance that they want to return to training.

Research fellow: These are trainees who are taking out-of-programme time to complete research projects in line with NHS priorities.

Post-CCT fellow: An individual who has passed all of the Fellowship of the Royal College of Anaesthetists (FRCA) examinations and has successfully completed the training programme, but is undergoing additional training or qualifications before commencing a consultant post.¹⁸

6.1.3 What anaesthetists learn

As mentioned above, it can take 14 years or more to train to become a consultant anaesthetist. This is due to the complexity of the tasks that they perform – and the need to have the knowledge and experience to know what to do in a variety of circumstances, including emergencies.

Anaesthetists need a thorough grounding in anatomy, physiology, diseases and pharmaceutical drugs to do their job. They also need to learn how anaesthetics can be delivered safely, what drugs are appropriate for different situations, and how various pharmaceuticals interact with different processes, diseases, and other medication that the patient may be taking. It is a role that involves making life or death decisions – and can be critical to the success of operations and procedures.

During their training, anaesthetists develop knowledge, understanding and clinical decision-making across a broad range of areas. This includes paediatrics, obstetrics, general and regional anaesthesia, perioperative care, emergency, trauma, and supporting critically ill patients.

| | Core | Higher | ACCS anaesthesia only | ACCS non- anaesthesia | LATs | MTI | LEDs | Clinical research fellow | Post-CCT fellow |
|------------------|------|--------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|------|-----|------|--------------------------------|--------------------|
| Northern Ireland | 39 | 97 | 3 | 12 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 8 | 0 |
| Scotland | 99 | 257 | 26 | 27 | 12 | 4 | 11 | 14 | 5 |
| Wales | 97 | 144 | 18 | 12 | 1 | 12 | 37 | 25 | 0 |
| England | 737 | 2,064 | 328 | 272 | 9 | 130 | 468 | 274 | 76 |
| UK | 972 | 2,562 | 375 | 323 | 22 | 146 | 519 | 321 | 81 |

Table 5 Number of AiTs, 2020

Note 1: Although College tutors reported 10 LATs in England and 1 LAT in Wales, this grade is recruited only in Scotland.

Note 2: There is a greater number of higher trainees than core trainees because higher training is longer and a greater proportion of higher trainees work less than full time, resulting in more individuals in the system.

6.1.4 CCT recommendations

An anaesthetist is qualified to become a consultant when they achieve their Certificate of Completion of Training (CCT). The number of CCTs shows how many potential new consultants are entering the workforce each year from domestic training routes.

Often doctors train only in anaesthetics; however, some complete dual or joint CCTs, for example, with intensive care medicine (ICM) or pre-hospital emergency medicine (PHEM).

| | 2020 | | 2021 | | 2022 | | 2023 | |
|----------|---------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| | Anaesthetic only | All anaesthetic | Anaesthetic only | All anaesthetic | Anaesthetic only | All anaesthetic | Anaesthetic only | All anaesthetic |
| England | 272 | 359 | 275 | 362 | 306 | 394 | 341 | 436 |
| Wales | 10 | 13 | 20 | 23 | 17 | 23 | 19 | 23 |
| Northern | 11 | 14 | 11 | 13 | 13 | 20 | 11 | 13 |
| Ireland | | | | | | | | |
| Scotland | 33 | 39 | 37 | 50 | 29 | 40 | 33 | 47 |
| Defence | 1 | 3 | 2 | 3 | 1 | 2 | 0 | 0 |
| UK | 327 | 428 | 345 | 451 | 366 | 479 | 404 | 519 |

Table 6 Number of anaesthetists receiving Certificates of Completion of Training (CCTs)

Note: 'All anaesthetic' includes dual ICM, joint ICM, and PHEM subspecialties in addition to anaesthetic CCTs only.

6.1.5 Recent Government actions to increase training numbers

In 2022, Health Education England (now part of NHS England confirmed that 70 more higher anaesthetic training places were to be funded, with the same numbers for 2023 and 2024. However, it has not yet been confirmed that these additional posts will be made permanent.

In Scotland, 15 new posts were approved for August 2022 and 6 for 2024. In Wales, five additional core posts were created for August 2021–2022 and 15 additional higher training posts in anaesthesia were created between 2020 and 2023.

Adding together the various figures for funded higher anaesthetic training places, there has been an increase of 106 since 2020.

6.1.6 The need for further increases

Although the increases announced to date are welcome, they are not sufficient to provide the NHS with the number of anaesthetists that it needs either now or in the future. This applies even if the 70 additional places per year in England are made permanent.

Fortunately, in theory, it is relatively easy for the Government to increase numbers further.

First, across the entire medical training system, there is a huge bottleneck between foundation and core training. In 2024, there were 54,012 applications (from 26,138 unique applicants) for just 9,341 specialty training places.

This affects anaesthesia at least as much as other specialties and anaesthetic training programmes have considerably more applicants than there are funded places available. In 2024, there were 3,520 applications for an available 540 core anaesthetic training places - a competition ratio of 6.5:1.¹⁹

Between core and higher anaesthetics training, there were 640 applications for 390 places in 2024 – a competition ratio of over 1.6:1.¹⁹ This has reduced from a ratio of 2.7:1 in 2021 but is something that we continue to monitor.

As is obvious, there is no shortage of eligible applicants for anaesthetic training. Bottlenecks in the training pathway not only deny the NHS the consultant and the SAS workforce that it needs, but also represent a waste of resources and undermines morale.



Second, we know that there is capacity in the system to do additional training. In 2023 we surveyed college tutors and heads of school about their capacity to take on extra AiTs, which revealed, at a conservative estimate, space for at least 59 extra core training places per year, and 81 extra higher training places and likely more.²⁰

Unfortunately, despite plenty of willing applicants and the capacity to train them, the money to fund these additional places has not yet been made available by Government. Provision of this money would rapidly increase anaesthetic capacity because (as stated above), after only 6 months in training, AiTs provide a level of independent clinical service and put the anaesthetic profession on a more stable footing for the future.

Such increases could be included as part of a much needed comprehensive plan for specialty training. It must be noted that anaesthesia is not the only specialty facing workforce shortages. It is imperative that the next iteration of the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan includes a funded plan for the expansion of specialty training posts across the board.



MORE SPECIALTY TRAINING PLACES ARE NEEDED NOW

6.2 Anaesthetists from abroad

Anaesthetists who obtained their primary medical qualification (PMQ) abroad constitute a third of the current anaesthetic workforce in the UK.²¹ These doctors provide an invaluable contribution to the NHS, and it is almost impossible to see how the system could function without them.

6.2.1 Numbers of anaesthetists from abroad

According to 2022 GMC data,²¹ 3,605 (31.7%) consultant anaesthetists and intensivists[§] (combined) have a PMQ from abroad. Both the numbers and the percentages have declined since 2013. Also, the percentage is

[§] An 'intensivist' is a doctor in ICM. They often share a level of training with anaesthetists and are sometimes grouped together in GMC statistics.

lower than that for all UK doctors with a PMQ from abroad (41.9%). Nevertheless, the contribution of overseas anaesthetists to the UK health workforce remains vast.

Table 7 Consultant anaesthetists and intensivists with primary medical qualifications (PMQs) from overseas

| GMC data: numbers of consultant anaesthetists and intensivists with PMQs from overseas | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|
| | 2013 | | 2016 | | 2019 | | 2022 | |
| | Number | % | Number | % | Number | % | Number | % |
| UK | 6,080 | 62.1 | 6,435 | 64.3 | 6,985 | 66.0 | 7,761 | 68.3 |
| EEA | 1,464 | 15.0 | 1,291 | 12.9 | 1,272 | 12.0 | 1,203 | 10.6 |
| IMG | 2,240 | 22.9 | 2278 | 22.8 | 2,329 | 22.0 | 2,402 | 21.1 |
| Overseas total | 3,704 | 37.9 | 3,569 | 35.7 | 3,601 | 34.0 | 3,605 | 31.7 |
| Overall total | 9,784 | | 10,004 | | 10,586 | | 11,366 | |

Note: EEA refers to doctors from the European Economic Area; IMG stands for international medical graduate and refers to doctors from beyond the EEA.

Table 8 All doctors with primary medical qualifications (PMQs) from overseas

| GMC data: numbers of all doctors with PMQs from overseas | | | | | | | | |
|--|---------|------|---------|------|---------|------|---------|------|
| | 2013 | | 2016 | | 2019 | | 2022 | |
| | Number | % | Number | % | Number | % | Number | % |
| UK | 164,704 | 63.4 | 178,164 | 63.5 | 191,284 | 61.4 | 202,098 | 58.1 |
| EEA | 27,195 | 10.5 | 30,612 | 10.9 | 33,326 | 10.7 | 35,511 | 10.2 |
| IMG | 67,759 | 26.1 | 71,999 | 25.6 | 86,709 | 27.9 | 110,472 | 31.7 |
| Overseas total | 94,954 | 36.6 | 102,611 | 36.5 | 120,035 | 38.6 | 145,983 | 41.9 |
| Overall total | 259,658 | | 280,775 | | 311,319 | | 348,081 | |

6.2.2 Overseas recruitment

Although the GMC data gives the total number of anaesthetists and intensivists with PMQs from abroad, our own workforce survey and census work show the scale of new recruitment. In 2022, our data showed that 310 doctors entered the UK workforce from abroad, including 38 consultants and 272 SAS doctors. The number of new consultants had declined since 2020, but the number of new SAS doctors had increased considerably.

| | New over consultan | rseas ts | New overseas SAS doctors | | |
|------------------|-----------------------|-------------|-----------------------------|------|--|
| | 2020 | 2022 | 2020 | 2022 | |
| Northern Ireland | 0 | 0 | 9 | 10 | |
| Scotland | 2 | 2 | 9 | 8 | |
| Wales | 2 | 0 | 24 | 33 | |
| England | 49 | 36 | 174 | 221 | |
| UK | 53 | 38 | 216 | 272 | |

Table 9 Overseas doctors entering the UK workforce by UK nation

This suggests that NHS trusts/boards are becoming increasingly reliant on overseas recruitment to fill SAS workforce gaps.

6.2.3 Pathways to practice

Anaesthetists from abroad have a number of routes to practice in the UK. The first is by demonstrating that their knowledge, skills, and experience align with the high-level learning outcomes of the GMC-approved, UK anaesthetic curriculum via the portfolio pathway route. Alternatively, AiTs from certain countries can train for up to 24 months in the UK to further their experience, via sponsorship pathways including the Medical Training Initiative (MTI) and the RCoA Global Fellowship Scheme.

Portfolio pathway

The portfolio pathway²² (previously known as the 'certificate of eligibility for specialist registration' or CESR pathway) entails applicants submitting a body of evidence to demonstrate that they have acquired the knowledge, skills, and experience necessary to practise as an anaesthetic consultant in the UK. This is in order to join the specialist register held by the GMC.

Under the CESR route, the assessment process required applicants to demonstrate that their training and qualifications were equivalent to the UK CCT in anaesthesia. However, the new guidance no longer refers to equivalence. Instead, it assesses an applicant's knowledge, skills, and experience, giving the GMC flexibility to accept a broader range of evidence.

The portfolio pathway route is commonly used for anaesthetists who qualified abroad. However, it is also used by some domestically trained SAS doctors who wish to become consultants or by doctors who cannot or do not wish to follow the standard training pathway route.

Table 10 CESR/portfolio pathway applications

| | Number of CESR/portfolio pathway applications in the UK |
|------|---|
| 2020 | 41 |
| 2021 | 47 |
| 2022 | 76 |
| 2023 | 119 |

Medical Training Initiative (MTI)

The MTI pathway²³ is a government scheme allowing doctors from low- and middle-income countries to undertake anaesthetic training in the NHS for a maximum of 24 months. The College has a role in coordinating the anaesthetic part of the scheme and supporting MTI doctors for the duration of their training.

The MTI scheme utilises unfilled training capacity within the NHS in England, Scotland and Wales (but not Northern Ireland). It allows eligible (not the European Economic Area [EEA] or Switzerland)²⁴ international medical graduates (IMGs) to engage in learning opportunities and contribute to service provision. The training received by doctors on the MTI scheme varies; however, it will follow the CCT curriculum. The training depends on the doctor's level of experience, specific interests, and training available within the placement hospital. These doctors will agree their specific training objectives with their educational supervisor.²⁵

The RCoA Global Fellowship Scheme

The RCoA Global Fellowship Scheme²⁶ provides opportunities for eligible anaesthetists, intensivists, and pain medicine doctors from high-income countries to practise and train in the UK. Typically, individuals will be in advanced stages of their training, or have recently completed training in their home countries. Often, they are looking for experience in subspecialty areas at advanced levels to which they may not previously have had access.

6.2.4 Impact of Brexit

Perhaps, unexpectedly, our 2022 workforce survey showed that the potential negative impact of Brexit on recruitment has been limited: 60% of clinical directors surveyed reported that Brexit had no impact on recruitment, with a further 20% reporting not much impact. This is perhaps because doctors from beyond the EEA already constituted the largest group of overseas doctors. Furthermore, medical practitioners are on the Government's 'Immigration Salary List'²⁷ which makes it easier for UK employers to recruit doctors from overseas (whether EEA or not) compared with other non-medical professions.

In the minority of cases where clinical leaders indicated that there had been some detriment to their recruitment due to Brexit, some noted that they had seen reduced interest from European applicants.

| What has been the impact of Brexit on recruitment? | | | | | | | | | |
|--|------------------------------------|----|------------------------------------|----|------------------------------------|----|------------------------------------|----|--|
| | None | | Not much | | Some detriment | | Unknown | | |
| | Number of clinical directors | % | |
| Northern Ireland | 7 | 78 | 1 | 11 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 11 | |
| Scotland | 12 | 57 | 7 | 33 | 1 | 5 | 1 | 5 | |
| Wales | 6 | 67 | 2 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 11 | |
| England | 76 | 59 | 23 | 18 | 21 | 16 | 8 | 6 | |
| UK | 101 | 60 | 33 | 20 | 22 | 13 | 11 | 7 | |

Table 11 Impact of Brexit on recruitment

7. Workforce exits, capacity restraints and retention challenges

In addition to assessing the pipeline into anaesthesia, it is equally important to assess current and future exits from the profession, as well as trends and factors around the hours that anaesthetists work. In this section we consider retirement levels, age profiles, less than full-time working, retention challenges, and the specific impact of pension taxation.

7.1 Retirements

Our workforce survey data show that the number of anaesthetists retiring in the UK has increased from 341 in 2020, to 365 in 2022, an increase of 7%. As we discuss in the next section, retirement levels have likely been driven by both the age profile of anaesthetists and Government policies around pension taxation. Changes to retirement flexibility may also play a role.

7.2 Age profiles

The anaesthetic and intensivist workforce is ageing. GMC data show that the percentage of licensed anaesthetic and intensivist consultants aged over 60 has risen from 8.2% in 2014 to 11.9% in 2022.²¹ The percentage in the 50–59 age group was 33.5% of the workforce in 2022, compared with 28.4% in 2014. This likely partly explains why retirement levels have increased and poses a challenge for the future. Although not all the anaesthetists in the aforementioned age groups are set to retire immediately, they are likely to do so over the next five to ten years. This has the potential to increase the anaesthetic workforce gap.

| | Age 50–59 | | Age 60+ | | |
|------|-----------|------------|---------|------------|--|
| Year | Number | Percentage | Number | Percentage | |
| 2014 | 2,786 | 28.4 | 807 | 8.2 | |
| 2016 | 3,019 | 30.2 | 846 | 8.5 | |
| 2018 | 3,315 | 31.8 | 992 | 9.5 | |
| 2020 | 3,567 | 32.8 | 1176 | 10.8 | |
| 2022 | 3,805 | 33.5 | 1354 | 11.9 | |

Table 12 Age of consultant anaesthetists and intensivists



7.3 The retention challenge in anaesthesia

In October 2021, the RCoA published its report '<u>Respected</u>, <u>valued</u>, <u>retained</u> – <u>working together to improve</u> <u>retention in anaesthesia</u>'.²⁸ This brought together evidence from a literature review and a membership survey on the factors affecting retention in anaesthesia, a summary of which can be seen in Table 13.

Table 13 Why anaesthetists retire or leave early

| Why do anaesthetists retire or leave early? ^(a) | % |
|--|----|
| Not feeling valued or well supported, including relationships with colleagues and managers | 42 |
| Wanting to pursue leisure interests and spend time with family | 36 |
| Concerns about taxes or pensions | 36 |
| Bureaucracy and leadership issues | 35 |
| Improving mental wellbeing, reducing stress or burnout | 25 |
| Could not sustain workload or being on-call | 25 |
| Lack of flexibility, reduced hours, breaks or leave | 19 |
| Lack of autonomy and respect | 16 |

a. This percentage is of anaesthetists who have retired or retired and recently returned.

Table 14 What influences anaesthetists to stay longer

| What would influence anaesthetists to stay longer? (b) | | |
|--|----|--|
| Reduced or no on-call work | 80 | |
| Being able to adjust clinical practice or the environment to account for physical changes with age | 77 | |
| Contract flexibility ^(c) | 67 | |
| Being able to work flexibly and less than full time to have a better work-life balance | 67 | |
| Having supportive colleagues and managers who are respectful and appreciative | 66 | |
| Advice about pay, pension and taxation issues | 66 | |

b. This is the average of consultants, SAS doctors, AiTs and anaesthetists who have retired.

c. Figures presented are weighted averages of the responses from SAS doctors and consultant anaesthetists. For a full breakdown by grade and employment status, see our <u>Respected</u>, valued, retained – working together to improve retention in anaesthesia.

The report also explored career intentions for anaesthetists at different grades and revealed that:

- 1 in 4 (25%) consultants and 1 in 5 (20%) SAS anaesthetists planned to leave the NHS within five years.
- Around 1/3 of respondents said that Covid-19 made them less inclined to stay working in the NHS.



The report also showed that our members are finding their workload increasingly unmanageable.

3 in 10

anaesthetists thought that their workload would not be sustainable as they got older

6 in 10

anaesthetists thought that their workload would only be sustainable with adjustments



The report identified work–life balance and the need for flexibility (or lack thereof) as two key factors affecting career decisions in anaesthesia. However, our members have told us that flexible working and appropriate job planning are not consistently available to them. This has led many to leave or retire early out of frustration with rigid policies, unfavourable terms and conditions for those choosing to retire and return, and a reluctance to provide the adjustments that they need. Key to addressing these issues are regular conversations among staff, managers, and the wider team to find solutions that work for everyone.

7.4 Pension taxation

Until recently, a major factor affecting the anaesthetic workforce was the pension taxation regime. In 2020, our census data showed that 1,133 consultants (14.4%) were reducing their working hours due to pension taxation.²⁹ Furthermore, of the 341 consultants and 45 SAS doctors who retired in the year preceding the census, 82 (22%) had chosen to retire for that reason. The pension taxation regime was, therefore, having a considerable negative impact on workforce capacity.

The RCoA pushed strongly for the pension taxation regime to be reformed. Fortunately, in the March 2023 budget, many changes were made that we believe will alleviate pension taxation problems for the majority of doctors – although some may still be affected. At the time, the chancellor, Jeremy Hunt, stated that the changes should 'stop over 80% of NHS doctors from receiving a tax charge.'³⁰

We note that the new Government in Westminster has expressed concerns that the aforementioned pension tax reforms are too broad and would prefer a solution aimed exclusively at doctors.³¹ In theory, we are comfortable with a doctors-only solution, so long as it genuinely alleviates the problems that doctors face. At the time of writing, the new Government has not set out the specifics of its plans. We retain an open mind but caution against any move that could return the country to a situation where doctors are forced to reduce their hours, or retire early, to mitigate against large, unpredictable tax bills.

7.5 Less than full-time working

Our report on retention, and our 2020 census, point to an increase in less than full-time working. This is due to a number of factors, including the desire for better work–life balance, childcare responsibilities, issues around pension taxation, and terms and conditions.

Our retention report showed that one in ten SAS and consultant anaesthetists are currently working less than full time and at least two in ten are considering working less than full time within the next five years.²⁸ If this were to be extrapolated more widely, it could mean that around a third of the workforce may wish to work less than full-time in the near future.



A similar trend can also be seen in the next generation of anaesthetists, with 30% of AiTs considering working on a less than full-time basis after they complete their training.

More anaesthetists opting to work or train in a less than full-time manner will have implications for the design of future job plans and more general workforce planning.

8. SAS doctors

SAS doctors have at minimum completed core specialist training in the UK or an equivalent postgraduate training from abroad, but many have much more experience.

8.1 Roles

Like other grades of anaesthetist, SAS doctors are involved in elective and emergency services, and often fill on-call and out-of-hours rotas. Depending on their experience, some SAS doctors will require some supervision by a consultant, while others may work autonomously. Some SAS doctors are involved with management, teaching, appraisal and administration – which the RCoA supports and encourages.

8.2 Contracts

There are a number of different SAS contracts. Since 2021, the contracts open to new entrants are the 'specialty doctor' contract and 'specialist grade' contract. There was also an older 2008 'specialty doctor' contract which closed in 2021³² and an 'associate specialist' contract which closed to new entrants in April 2009.

Specialty doctors in anaesthesia on the 2008 and 2021 contracts have at a minimum completed foundation training and core training in anaesthesia or equivalent.³³ Specialist grade contracts are for SAS anaesthetists who have at least twelve years of medical experience since obtaining a PMQ, including six years in anaesthetics.³⁴ Associate specialist doctors on 2008 contracts have at least ten years of postgraduate medical practice, of which two years are in anaesthesia.³⁵

8.3 Numbers

As mentioned in section 6.1, the number of SAS doctors rose from 1,654 in 2020 to 1,851 in 2022 – an increase of 11.9%. Despite the growth in the supply of SAS doctors, there has been an even greater increase in demand. The shortfall of SAS doctors grew from 363 (18% below what is needed) in 2020 to 442 (19%) in 2022. Without addressing these shortfalls, the number of operations that the NHS can conduct is reduced and its ability to address the elective backlog is hindered.

8.4 Concerns

SAS doctors are vital to the delivery of elective and emergency services and ensuring 24-hour anaesthetic cover. However, sometimes SAS doctors, despite their experience in the specialty, feel that they are not recognised or valued for their work.

Survey work from the GMC shows that 35.8% of SAS doctors do not feel that they are always treated fairly.³⁶ In England, the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan included a commitment to support SAS doctors and pledged to improve 'equitable promotion'. While this is welcome, it is only part of the issue. For example, our own survey work has shown that 34% of departments have a policy for senior consultants to come off the on-call rota compared with only 7% for senior SAS doctors.²⁸ We have also found that SAS doctors have to wait until the age of sixty years to come off on-call rotas, five years later than the average consultant.²⁸

Our work also shows that SAS doctors feel that they do not have enough support for career progression or to join the specialty register held by the GMC via the portfolio pathway, as outlined in section 6.2.3.

8.5 Measures to help and promote SAS doctors

There are many ways to help ensure that SAS doctors are respected and treated fairly and that the role is more generally promoted. The RCoA has set out a number of measures to help and promote SAS doctors,³⁷ some of which we have set out below. The RCoA also supports the 'SAS charters' for each of the UK nations produced by the British Medical Association (BMA) and the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (AoMRC) and the 'Six SAS Principles' promoted by the SAS Collective, a group of SAS doctors working to improve the careers and retention of SAS doctors across the UK.³⁸

8.5.1 Working hours

We believe that SAS doctors should have an appropriate balance between elective and out-of-hours work and a degree of choice in the work that they do. Elective work can give SAS doctors opportunities for professional development. It can also provide a degree of choice, which helps ensure that the work they do is better suited to their interests and expertise. This would have benefits for wellbeing, retention, and recruitment. Daytime work also helps doctors feel part of their department rather than detached from it.

To ensure fairness, all arrangements for coming off the on-call rota must include SAS staff on equitable terms with other doctors.

8.5.2 Being valued in departments

We believe that SAS doctors should be integral to the work of anaesthetic departments and that their skills, views, and expertise should be valued and respected. As part of this, SAS doctors should be able to attend clinical governance meetings in the same manner as consultants and AiTs. Cover for any emergency lists taking place at the same time should be shared equitably.

8.5.3 Supporting professional activities

SAS doctors, and the departments in which they work, benefit from being able to devote time to 'supporting professional activities' (SPA). Such time allows for job planning, appraisal, revalidation, teaching, research, and clinical management. Currently, the 'specialty doctor' contract stipulates at least one four-hour session of SPA per week. However, the BMA and the AoMRC recommend 1.5 sessions.

8.5.4 Professional development

SAS doctors should be supported in their professional development, including by having a personal development plan agreed at their annual appraisal, and being given the same study leave entitlements and budgets as consultants. Their training should also be supported to allow them to sit the fellowship examination or collect evidence for a portfolio pathway if they choose to follow these routes of progression.

8.5.5 SAS advocates

The RCoA also recommends that every trust and board have an SAS advocate to promote the health, wellbeing, and profile of the SAS workforce.

SAS advocates can assist SAS doctors with contractual, cultural, and organisational issues in their workplace, and translate work done at a national level with regard to SAS doctors at a local level. They are also there to promote SAS engagement in survey work about their experiences and signpost to resources such as 'freedom to speak up guardians'¹³⁹

SAS advocates also provide an opportunity for trusts and boards to demonstrate commitment to improving the experience for SAS doctors and assist in sharing of good practice.⁴⁰

8.6 Recommendations

SAS doctors are an important part of the anaesthetic workforce. They should be valued and active efforts should be made to support them in their roles. This includes the appointment of SAS advocates, support being given to SAS professional development and more equitable treatment in working hours, including coming off the on-call rota.

9. Anaesthesia associates

Anaesthesia associates (AAs) – previously known as physicians' assistants (anaesthesia) PA(A)s – work as part of the anaesthetic team providing patient care alongside consultant, SAS, and other anaesthetic doctors.

AAs are not doctors and their training is shorter and narrower than that of an anaesthetist. They work under supervision, with one anaesthetist supervising either one or two AAs.

9.1 NHS expansion plans

Although NHS England's Long Term Workforce Plan did not contain specific pledges about training places for doctors in specialties such as anaesthesia, it did include a pledge to increase the number of AAs to 2,000 by 2036/37.¹⁰ NHS England has since stated that their proposals, 'will only go as fast as safety, support and quality of experience for patients, doctors in training, physician associates and anaesthesia associates and their educators allows.'⁴¹

Our members' survey on AAs, which received a 35% response rate, revealed that the majority of anaesthetists who responded are opposed to the expansion plans – and many hold concerns about the impact of AAs on patient safety, the reduction of training opportunities for AiTs and their value for money.⁴²

Given these concerns, which were also expressed at an extraordinary general meeting of College members in October 2023, the RCoA has called for a pause on recruitment of new student AAs.⁴³

The RCoA will be further developing its position on AAs over the coming months. However, in the meantime we believe that the focus should be on boosting the number of training places for anaesthetists, particularly at a higher training level.

9.2 Numbers of AAs

Below are the numbers of AAs across the UK, as recorded in our 2020 census, our 2022 workforce survey, and a more limited 2023 survey of clinical leaders.

Unfortunately, no survey achieved a 100% response rate, so we have attempted to correct for missing data as set out in <u>Appendix B</u>.

[¶] Freedom to speak up guardians 'support workers to speak up when they feel that they are unable to in other ways. There are over 1,000 freedom to speak up guardians in the NHS and independent sector organisations, national bodies and elsewhere'.³⁹

| Nation | 2020 | 2022 | 2023 |
|------------------|------|------|------|
| Northern Ireland | 3 | 3 | 5 |
| Scotland | 22 | 19 | 31 |
| Wales | 9 | 8 | 12 |
| England | 135 | 124 | 248 |
| UK | 169 | 154 | 296 |

Table 15 Number of AAs, 2020-2023^(d)

d. Numbers differ from <u>State of the Nation</u> report published in 2022 because we learned that there were some inconsistencies in this data. For example, Northern Ireland reported eight AAs in the 2020 census, but, on making further enquiries, we found there had only been three.

| Table 16 Numbers of student and | d qualified AAs, 2023 |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|

| 2023 breakdown | | | |
|------------------|-------------|---------------|-----------|
| Nation | Student AAs | Qualified AAs | Total AAs |
| Northern Ireland | 2 | 3 | 5 |
| Scotland | 16 | 15 | 31 |
| Wales | 0 | 12 | 12 |
| England | 96 | 152 | 248 |
| UK | 114 | 182 | 296 |

10. Expected increase in demand for anaesthetic services by 2040

As explained earlier in this report, there is a current shortfall of around 1,900 anaesthetists in the UK. Unfortunately, unless urgent action is taken, this gap could grow to as many as 11,000 by the year 2040. This will be driven by rising demand for anaesthetists – due to factors such as population growth and ageing, increasing numbers of surgical interventions on offer and the expansion of anaesthetists' roles across the surgical pathway.



For this reason, we commissioned the York Health Economics Consortium (YHEC) to produce projections⁴⁴ on future demand for anaesthetists and how that would compare to the supply if current rates of growth were maintained.

The YHEC projections are based on earlier work for the Centre for Workforce Intelligence (CfWI) which produced official anaesthetic workforce projections for the NHS in 2015.⁴⁵ The CfWI report used a 'Delphi Study' – essentially a means of bringing together expert opinions to quantify likely increases in demand. YHEC used the CfWI projections and updated them slightly using a new round of expert opinion.

10.1 Increases in demand

10.1.1 Population growth and ageing

The UK has a growing and ageing population. By 2045 the total population of the UK is set to expand to 71 million, from 67.1 million in 2020.⁴⁶ Furthermore, the number of people at pensionable age is set to increase by 3.3 million compared to 2020, considerably increasing healthcare demand.

As a larger population requires more surgery, and an ageing population further increases healthcare demand, demographic changes alone equate to a 1.25% increase per year in demand for anaesthetists.

10.1.2 Expansion of surgical interventions

In addition to an ageing population, it is also the case that scientific, technical, and medical knowledge continue to increase. This means that new surgical procedures are developed and more medical conditions become amenable to surgery. Although this is a positive thing, it also means more clinical staff are needed to perform these operations. In line with the findings of the CfWI report, this will likely result in a 1.3% increase per year in demand for anaesthetists, over and above demographic changes.

10.1.3 Expansion of the anaesthetist's role

Anaesthetists are increasingly involved in perioperative care, that is, helping patients across all stages of the surgical pathway, from preparing people for surgery, to assisting in discharge planning. This expanded role can lead to considerable efficiencies in terms of reducing cancelled operations, preventing surgical complications, accelerating recovery, and cutting down readmissions into the health system. Ultimately, this can save the NHS money and time, for example, by reducing length of stay. However, it also means that demand for anaesthetists will increase as a result of these extra duties.

Based on expert opinion, this will likely result in a further 1.3% increase in demand for anaesthetists per year.

10.1.4 Bringing it all together

Taking all of the above into account, demand for anaesthetists could increase by 3.85% per year. If true, this would mean a need for around 25,500 anaesthetists by 2040. That is the challenge that the Government and the NHS must face.

10.2 Increases in supply

Between 2010 and 2020, the number of fully qualified anaesthetists in the UK increased at a compound rate of 1.54% per year. On the assumption that this trend would continue, YHEC expected anaesthetist numbers to rise from around 10,700 in 2020 to 14,500 by 2040. It must be noted that even this small annual increase will not happen on its own. It is dependent on Government action, such as increasing the number of training places.

10.3 Growing gap between supply and demand

As may be immediately noted from the above, the increase in demand for anaesthetists over the next couple of decades could far outstrip the number of anaesthetists available. By 2040 there could be a demand for around 25,500 anaesthetists, but only 14,500 available if current rates of growth continue. This could lead the current shortfall of around 1,900 anaesthetists to grow to around 11,000 unless urgent action is taken.



10.4 Breakdown by nation

Demand for anaesthetists currently outstrips supply in every UK nation. In 2020 (which was the baseline for the YHEC projections), England was around 1,100 short, Scotland 120, Wales 150 and Northern Ireland 60. By 2040, these gaps are expected to grow considerably, as shown in Table 17.

| Nation | 2020 numbers | 2020 shortages | Projected numbers in 2040 | Projected demand in 2040 | Projected gap in 2040 |
|------------------|--------------|----------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| UK | 10,700 | 1,400 | 14,500 | 25,500 | 11,300 |
| England | 8,800 | 1,100 | 11,900 | 21,000 | 9,100 |
| Scotland | 900 | 120 | 1,200 | 2,200 | 1,000 |
| Wales | 650 | 150 | 900 | 1,700 | 800 |
| Northern Ireland | 350 | 60 | 500 | 900 | 400 |

Table 17 Expected increase in demand for anaesthetic services by 2040

Note 1: UK figures may not always sum exactly due to rounding.

Note 2: We used the 2020 numbers as set out in the YHEC report.

10.5 Projections becoming reality

As noted earlier in the report, the 1,400 shortfall recorded in 2020 increased to 1,900 in 2022. This demonstrates that our prediction that the gap would rise is playing out in reality – and brings home the urgency of the need to expand the anaesthetic workforce.

10.6 Impact on patient care and the NHS

The simple truth is this: unless action is taken to boost the number of anaesthetists, the ability of the NHS to reduce the elective backlog is severely limited. Furthermore, unless governments act to boost recruitment and retention of permanent anaesthetic staff, the NHS will have to rely on a limited supply of expensive agency locums – costing the NHS considerably more money.

10.7 Severe constraints on NHS capacity

At the time of writing, 7.5 million people are on NHS waiting lists in England.¹ As emphasised throughout this report, most operations and procedures cannot take place without an anaesthetist, yet the NHS is 1,900 anaesthetists short. Given that the average full-time anaesthetist administers 750 anaesthetics per year, this equates to roughly 1.4 million operations and procedures that cannot take place due to shortage of anaesthetic staff. This represents a severe reduction in NHS capacity.

Furthermore, by 2040, the shortfall of anaesthetists will grow to around 11,000. This equates to roughly 8.25 million operations and procedures that will not take place due to a lack of anaesthetic staff.

11. Wellbeing, mental health and burnout

The wellbeing of the anaesthetic workforce must be supported and protected. Wellbeing is not only important to anaesthetists in their own lives, but also to their motivation, their need to take leave due to ill-health and their decisions on whether to remain in the profession. If anaesthetists are in danger of becoming burnt out or are already burnt out or demoralised, this could undermine efforts to tackle waiting lists and could put patient safety at risk. Our retention work²⁸ showed that 25% of those who retired or left the profession early did so because of issues to do with mental wellbeing, burnout, or stress.



11.1 Workload

Workload, and support in managing it, are key factors in feeling valued at work and people's wellbeing. Of anaesthetists, 8% said that they work over their rostered hours daily, with 30% working over their rostered hours weekly.^{**} Among anaesthetists in training, 11% reported that they work over their rostered hours daily or weekly – similar to the rate of trainees in all specialties.⁴⁷

11.2 Burnout

Studies suggest that burnout may result in exhaustion, cynicism, the reduction of working hours or staff leaving the profession.⁴⁸ It may also have negative impacts on professional performance.⁴⁹

According to GMC data⁴⁷ across the UK, 22% of the anaesthetic trainer workforce, and 36% of the AiT workforce reported feeling high or very high levels of burnout in 2023. This is compared to 27% of trainers and 43% of trainees across all medical specialties. Although this figure suggests that anaesthetists in training fare slightly better than some other specialties, it is still the case that burnout remains at worrying levels. Burnout varies by UK nation. Among AiTs, the highest levels of burnout were found in Northern Ireland, with 41% reporting high or very high levels of burnout. Among anaesthetic trainers, the highest levels were found in England, with 22% reporting similarly.

| | Trainee, high and very high (%) | Trainer, high and very high (%) |
|------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| England | 38 | 22 |
| Scotland | 30 | 18 |
| Wales | 37 | 16 |
| Northern Ireland | 41 | 15 |
| UK | 36 | 22 |

Table 18 GMC data: levels of burnout amonganaesthetic trainees and trainers, 2023 47

^{**} Compared with 26% of all doctors working over daily and 32% over weekly, possibly resulting from staff shortages.⁴⁷

11.3 Drivers

Good mental health and wellbeing likely have many drivers. These may include simple, but often neglected, things like having access to adequate rest and refreshment services and the availability of parking that is close by, safe and affordable. It also includes relationships between staff, and manageable workloads and working hours. The latter issues may be influenced by staff shortages. In England, the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan urged hospital trusts to address some of these issues.¹⁰ We have seen some action to take this work forward; however, this work needs to go further and faster.

The RCoA produces the Guidelines for the Provision of Anaesthetic Services (GPAS) to support and promote high-quality anaesthetic services.⁵⁰ 'The good department' chapter of this document includes recommendations to protect and promote the wellbeing of anaesthetists, such as:

- departments should promote a caring and supportive culture
- access to mentorship
- having a departmental health and wellbeing policy and a lead with access to appropriate expertise and resources
- openness about fatigue and promoting the need for rest
- promoting a sensible work-life balance.

We encourage all anaesthetic departments to implement the GPAS recommendations.

The RCoA, in partnership with the Faculty of Intensive Care Medicine (FICM) and the Association of Anaesthetists (AoA), have also established a 'Fight Fatigue' campaign, which calls for a minimum provision of free rest facilities within hospitals. This includes resources for hospitals to use as part of their staff inductions.⁵¹

11.4 Overall

Rates of burnout and mental health issues among anaesthetic staff remain worryingly high. Governments and health service leaders must take this issue seriously and take a wide-ranging, multi-faceted approach to tackling it, including via implementation of the recommendations of the GPAS.

12. Impact of waiting lists on patients

Waiting lists for elective care have severe impacts on patients. According to a national inpatient experience survey published by the Care Quality Commission, 41% of elective patients said that their health deteriorated while waiting to be admitted to hospital.⁵²

In a survey carried out by the Office for National Statistics (ONS), 70% of adults waiting for NHS treatment reported that it had negatively impacted their lives.⁵³ Among these respondents, 57% said the wait affected their wellbeing for reasons such as anxiety, stress, loneliness or boredom. Long waits also affected patients physically, with 40% reporting that it reduced their ability to exercise, 28% that it made their condition worse, and 36% that it affected their mobility.

Long waits can also impact patients' working lives. In the ONS survey⁵³, 31% of working adults waiting for NHS treatment said that their work had been affected. Among these people, 52% had to change the tasks that they did at work and 21% were unable to go for promotion or training opportunities. In addition, 14% had to reduce their working hours, 13% had to find new employment and 11% went on long-term sick leave. The Institute for Public Policy Research has estimated that getting people off waiting lists could bring a value equivalent to £73 billion over a four-year period.⁵⁴

Reducing waiting list times for elective care, and supporting patients during this time, are critical to ensuring that patients can get the treatment that they need, reduce the burden of pain and mental health deterioration, and enable them to continue with their lives. Ensuring that there is a full complement of anaesthetic staff is critical to this end.

The Anaesthetic Workforce 2024: UK State of the Nation Report



13. Transformation of the surgical pathway

The RCoA hosts the <u>Centre for Perioperative Care (CPOC</u>), which has shown how every stage of the surgical pathway could be optimised to reduce costs, improve efficiency and improve patient outcomes.

This involves factors such as 'prehabilitation' (improving a patient's health ahead of an operation, for example, through smoking cessation or exercise), shared decision-making, and proper discharge planning.⁵⁵ All these interventions can help reduce the rate of surgical complications, on-the-day cancellations, lengthy hospital stays, and readmission to hospital after discharge.

We remain committed to working with the Government and our stakeholders on identifying the right numbers and skills mix required to build a stronger and more resilient 'team anaesthesia' and enable the specialty to deliver anaesthetic and perioperative care services fit for the future.

14. Recommendations

This report highlights the huge challenges that NHS organisations are facing – and shows how those challenges will grow year on year unless action is taken.

A key task of the new Government in Westminster, and devolved administrations across the UK, must be to grow the anaesthetic workforce in line with the needs of NHS organisations and the patients whom they serve. Only an expanded anaesthetic workforce will allow NHS services to meet current and future demand, tackle elective backlogs, prevent unnecessary expenditure and ensure that targets (such as 18 weeks for referral to treatment) are met.

Addressing workforce challenges is complex and, like other specialties, anaesthesia will require a multi-faceted approach. We have set out what we believe are the key solutions below.

14.1 Increasing anaesthetic training places

From section 6.3 of this report, we know that there is an anaesthetic workforce gap of approximately 1,900. Furthermore, in section 11 our projections show that this could grow to 11,000 by 2040 unless urgent action is taken. The most obvious way to fill the gap is to increase the number of anaesthetic training places – and that requires Government funding.

On top of the 70 extra higher anaesthetic training places announced in England in 2022, we estimated in section 7.1 that the system can currently cope with at least 59 extra core and 81 higher training places – and likely more. These should be funded immediately and secured for the long term. Although far more anaesthetists are needed than this, this is what we believe the training system can currently cope with. New AiTs could immediately contribute to the work of anaesthetic departments, provide a basis for a future consultant workforce, and reduce reliance on agency staff.

Bringing new anaesthetic training places online could be done as either a stand-alone measure or part of a wider plan for specialty training. The next iteration of the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan provides an opportunity for such a plan to be developed. Either way, action is needed urgently.

14.2 Sensible pension taxation rules

As discussed in section 8.4, pension taxation was a major factor in pushing anaesthetists to reduce their hours or retire. Following from the changes to pension taxation rules in April 2023, many of these issues seem to be resolved. However, it is important that these measures – or other measures that equally protect doctors – are maintained. The Government must avoid actions that would lead to a return to the previous problems.

14.3 Promoting, valuing, and utilising SAS roles

All NHS bodies must make efforts to promote and support the SAS role. This includes embedding and supporting development opportunities and fair treatment, and ensuring that SAS doctors' contributions to anaesthetic teams is appropriately valued. This would aid recruitment and retention of staff in these roles, improve morale and help them achieve their full potential.

14.4 Wellbeing, burnout, and mental health

Efforts to boost levels of wellbeing and good mental health, and minimise burnout, are key components of retaining the anaesthetic workforce, addressing the elective backlog, and maintaining patient safety. Governments and health service leaders must do all that they can on these fronts.

In the first instance, we urge all hospitals to improve rest, refreshment and parking facilities, and refer to and implement the recommendations of 'the good department' chapter of the GPAS.

The RCoA, together with the AoA, have encouraged departments to adopt a 'wellbeing lead' and will continue to gather information on the rollout of this programme. We have also led, with the FICM and the AoA, the 'fight fatigue' campaign. We are currently looking at how best to implement the campaign in the profession. We will continue to study the drivers of wellbeing on the anaesthetic workforce with a view to making more detailed recommendations in future.

14.5 Career progression and job flexibility

Better communication around career progression, and more flexibility in job plans to improve work–life balance and support anaesthetists of all grades to stay in work as long and as healthily as possible, is needed, including a more standard offer around flexibilities and terms and conditions for those approaching retirement and wishing to reduce their hours.

14.6 Transformation of the surgical pathway

Perioperative interventions and practices should be rolled out and adopted as advocated by the CPOC and the RCoA, such as prehabilitation, shared decision-making, and improved discharge planning.

For more information, please contact <u>advocacy@rcoa.ac.uk</u>.

Appendix A: Waiting time figures

Waiting time numbers are calculated as follows:

Scotland: the figure is based on 558,900 people waiting for an outpatient appointment, 155,600 people waiting for inpatient or day-case admission, plus 150,000 people waiting for diagnostic tests.

- NHS waiting times stage of treatment, Public Health Scotland
- NHS waiting times diagnostics Public Health Scotland

Wales: the figure is based on 464,200 people waiting for outpatient appointments plus 153,000 waiting for an admitted diagnostic or therapeutic intervention. All stats from patient pathways waiting to start treatment by month, grouped weeks and stage of pathway.

Patient pathways waiting to start treatment by month, grouped weeks and stage of pathway, Stats Wales, <u>NHS Wales</u>

Northern Ireland: the figure is based on 230,500 patients waiting for outpatient appointments plus 52,000 patients waiting for inpatient or day-case admission and 121,700 waiting for diagnostic intervention.

Hospital waiting times statistics, Department of Health Northern Ireland

Appendix B: Methodology

In 2020, we conducted a full workforce census and in 2022 we conducted a more limited survey to provide updates on key headline figures.

The 2022 survey had an 84% response rate, somewhat lower than the 97% response rate in 2020. To obtain results that were comparable, for our consultant and SAS doctor figures we scaled both years' data to an estimate of what they would have been if a 100% response rate had been achieved.

To produce these estimates, we looked at trusts/boards, on a region-by-region basis (or nation-by-nation basis in the case of AAs due to lower numbers), where we had full data for both 2020 and 2022. From this, we could calculate an average percentage increase for various grades of anaesthetists in that region.

If, for example, in region A there was an average 3% increase of consultants in trusts where we had complete data for 2020 and 2022, we could then apply that percentage increase (or decrease) to other trusts where data were missing for one or both years. If trust Y had data on consultant numbers in 2020, but had supplied none in 2022, we assumed that numbers had increased by 3% – in line with the average increase in that region. Similarly, if we had 2022 data, but none for 2020, we could estimate the 2020 numbers by using the methodology in reverse.

In the small number of cases where the data was missing in both years, we assumed that the trust had the average number of anaesthetists of various grades in that region.

Where there were vast disparities between the 2020 and 2022 data, we considered these anomalies and sought to contact the trusts concerned. If we could not resolve the issue through contact, we then scaled accordingly (only in two cases across the data) from the most credible data point available.

Taken together, we believe our methodology creates the most accurate depiction of the anaesthetic workforce that we could get without complete data.

Report authors

Peter Kunzmann RCoA Head of Policy and Public Affairs

Amy Wallwork

RCoA Policy and Public Affairs Officer

With special thanks to **Darcy Ward**, former RCoA Policy and Public Affairs Assistant, and **Elena Fabbrani**, RCoA Patient and Public Involvement Manager, who made substantial contributions to early drafts of this document.

References

- 1 NHS referral to treatment (RTT) waiting times data August 2024, NHS England, 2024.
- 2 <u>NHS waiting times stage of treatment</u>, Public Health Scotland, 2024.
- 3 <u>StatsWales</u>, Patient pathways waiting to start treatment by month, grouped weeks and stage of pathway, Welsh Government, 2024.
- 4 <u>Hospital waiting times statistics</u>, Department of Health Northern Ireland.
- 5 Delivery plan for tackling the COVID-19 backlog of elective care, NHS England, February 2022.
- 6 Our programme for transforming and modernising planned care and reducing waiting lists in Wales, NHS Wales, April 2022.
- 7 NHS recovery plan 2021-2026, NHS Scotland, August 2021.
- 8 <u>Elective care framework: restart, recovery and redesign</u>, Department of Health Northern Ireland, 2021.
- 9 <u>Response to HEE training places</u>, RCoA, 2022.
- 10 NHS long term workforce plan, NHS England, 2023.
- 11 The Rt Hon. Professor the Lord Darzi of Denham, Independent investigation of the NHS in England, Department of Health and Social Care, 2024.
- 12 T. J. La *et al.* The global anesthesia workforce survey: updates and trends in anesthesia workforce, *Anesthesia & Analgesia,* vol. 139, no. 1, pp. 15-24, 2024.
- 13 Change: Labour Party Manifesto 2024, Labour, 2024.
- 14 A. Culbertson, <u>Health secretary wes streeting says NHS waiting lists need to be 'millions lower' by 2029</u>, *Sky News*, 08 09 2024.
- 15 <u>Clinical supervision</u>, RCoA, 2020.
- 16 GPAS Chapter 1, RCoA.
- 17 Locum posts, Health Education East of England, 2022.
- 18 Post-CCT fellowship scheme 2022/23, Health Education Yorkshire and the Humber, 2022.
- 19 Competition ratios for 2023, NHS England, 2023.
- 20 C. Carey and S. Thornton, UK wide anaesthetic training capacity 2023 RCoA ETE board presentation data, *RCoA*, 2023.
- 21 The state of medical education and practice in the UK: workforce report, GMC, 2023.
- 22 Portfolio pathway application, GMC.
- 23 <u>Medical training initiative</u>, RCoA, 2022.
- 24 Medical training initiative, Royal College of Pathologists, 2022.
- 25 <u>Remote education supervisor</u>, RCoA, 2022.
- 26 <u>Global fellowship scheme</u>, RCoA, 2022.
- 27 Skilled worker visa: immigration salary list, UK Government, 4 April 2024.
- 28 <u>Respected, valued, retained: working together to improve retention in anaesthesia</u>, RCoA, September 2021.
- 29 Royal College of Anaesthetists, Medical workforce census report 2020, RCoA, 2020.
- 30 Spring budget 2023: what you need to know, NHS Confederation, 2023.

The Anaesthetic Workforce 2024: UK State of the Nation Report

- 31 F. Brown, Labour to reverse 'tax cut for the rich' pension reform if it wins the next election, Sky News, 2023.
- 32 <u>The new SAS doctor contract</u>, RCoA, 2021.
- 33 Terms and conditions of service specialty doctor (England), NHS Employers, 2021.
- 34 Terms and conditions of service specialist (England), NHS Employers, 2021.
- 35 Terms and conditions of service for associate specialists (England 2008), NHS Employers, 2008.
- 36 <u>Specialty, associate specialist, and locally employed doctors workplace expereinces survey: initial findings</u> report, *GMC*.
- 37 What does a good SAS job look like?, RCoA.
- 38 The SAS Collective, Twitter.
- 39 National Guardian Freedom to Speak Up, National Guardian's Office.
- 40 SAS advocate guidance, NHS Employers, 2022.
- 41 <u>Update on delivering the NHS long term workforce plan ambitions around medical associate roles</u>, *NHS England*, 17 10 2023.
- 42 Research by Design, Research report Royal College of Anaesthetists anaesthesia associates, RCoA, 2024.
- 43 Letter to clinical leaders in anaesthesia network, RCoA, 27 02 2024.
- 44 C. Collins and N. Hex, <u>Demand and capacity analysis for the UK anaesthetic workforce 2020-2040</u>, York Health Economics Consortium, August 2021.
- 45 <u>In-depth review of the anaesthetics and intensive care medicine workforce</u>, Centre for Workforce Intelligence, 2015.
- 46 <u>National population projections: 2020-based interim</u>, Office for National Statistics, 2020.
- 47 National training survey, GMC, 2022.
- 48 Beating burnout in the NHS, NHS Employers, 9 August 2022.
- 49 K. Fong et al, The mental health of staff working on intensive care units over the COVID-19 winter surge of 2020 in England: a cross sectional survey, *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, vol. 128, no. 6, pp. 971-979, 2022.
- 50 Guidelines for the provision of anaesthetic services, RCoA, 2023.
- 51 Fight fatigue resources, Association of Anaesthetists, 2023.
- 52 Adult inpatient survey 2022, Care Quality Commission, 2023.
- 53 Tracking the impact of winter pressures in Great Britain: 18–19 January 2023, Office for National Statistics, 2023.
- 54 <u>Revealed: £73 billion at stake if government misses its NHS waiting list ambitions, report finds</u>, Institute for Public Policy Research, 03 04 2023.
- 55 Impact of perioperative care on healthcare resource use: rapid reserach review, CPOC, 2020.

Royal College of Anaesthetists

Churchill House, 35 Red Lion Square, London WC1R 4SG

<u>rcoa.ac.uk</u>

